1984

The State of Utah v. Harvey W. Dorton : Brief of Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

The Appellant, HARVEY W. DORTON, appeals from his conviction of the offense of Bail Jumping, a Third Degree Felony, in violation of Utah Code Ann. §76-8-312 (1953 as amended), in the Third Judicial District Court in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah, the Honorable Ernest F. Baldwin, Jr., presiding.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The Appellant was charged by Information with Bail Jumping. On April 27, 1983, the jury returned a verdict of guilty. Appellant was subsequently sentenced on May 23, 1983, to serve an indeterminate term of zero to five years in the Utah State Prison.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks a reversal of the judgment of guilt entered against him, and a new trial.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On January 5, 1981, the State of Utah commenced its prosecution of several first degree felony charges against Appellant. (Case CR-81-310; Attempted Criminal Homicide, Aggravated Burglary, Aggravated Kidnapping, Aggravated Robbery, and Aggravated Sexual Assault). Appellant was held in the Salt Lake County Jail until his preliminary hearing on February 2, 1981. Shortly after the hearing, he posted bond in the amount of Seven Thousand Five Hundred (\$7,500) Dollars through Dewey's Bail Bonds, and was released from custody.

His trial was scheduled for January 18, 1982, in Third District Court, the Honorable Bryant H. Croft presiding. (T. 11). Appellant appeared for trial on January 18. At the end of the day, Judge Croft ordered a recess until the following morning, January 19th. All involved with the case, including Appellant, were admonished to return to the courtroom the next day at 10:00 a.m. (T. 12).

On January 19, 1982, Appellant did not appear for his trial. The State finished its prosecution of the case without Appellant's presence. (T. 13, 14). The jury convicted Appellant of the majority of the charges. The Court

ordered that a warrant be issued for Appellant's arrest.

Approximately six months later, James R. Phelps, of Dewey's Bail Bonds, located Appellant in Houston, Texas. On July 5, 1982, he traveled to Houston to apprehend Appellant. (T. 25). Appellant was surrendered by Mr. Phelps to the Houston Police Department and eventually returned to the State of Utah for sentencing. (T. 18).

Based on these facts, Appellant was charged in the instant case with the offense of Bail Jumping, in violation of Utah Code Ann. §76-8-312 (1953 as amended). Trial was held on April 27, 1983. During the State's closing argument, County Attorney Rob Reese made the following statement:

When he [Appellant] was arrested he gave no explanation as to what he was doing there, at least that is what Mr. Phelps told us, and there is no evidence here today that suggests that he had any legal justification for leaving. (T. 49).

Defense counsel contemporaneously objected to the statement as being an improper comment on the defendant's failure to present evidence in his behalf. (T. 49). Later, out of the presence of the jury, counsel made a Motion for a Mistrial based on Mr. Reese's comment. (T. 53). She argued that it was an improper comment on the defendant's post-arrest silence and was thus grounds for a mistrial under

the authority of Doyle v. Ohio. (T. 54). The Court took the motion under advisement. The jury convicted Appellant of Bail Jumping and the Court subsequently denied defense counsel's Motion for Mistrial.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

APPELLANT WAS DEPRIVED OF A FAIR TRIAL WHEN THE PROSECUTOR COMMENTED UPON APPELLANT'S POST ARREST SILENCE AND HIS FAILURE TO PRESENT EVIDENCE IN HIS BEHALF AT TRIAL.

Appellant asserts that the County Attorney's comments in closing argument constituted prejudicial error. Both comments, that the Appellant offered no explanation of his conduct when he was arrested, and further, that Appellant presented no evidence at trial, are constitutionally impermissible. They denied Appellant a fair trial.

It is fundamental that a person has the right to remain silent when arrested and accused of a crime. Furthermore, his or her silence may not be used in an incriminating fashion to establish the commission of a crime. See U.S. Constitution, Amendment 5, and 14. Thus, the United States Supreme Court has held that where a defendant invokes the Fifth Amendment right to remain silent during his trial, the prosecutor may not comment on the assertion of this right. Griffin v. California, 380 U.S.

609 (1965). The Court has extended this principle to include questioning and comment on a defendant's failure to make a statement upon arrest, after Miranda warnings have been given. Boyle v. Ohio, 426 U.S. 619 (1976).

These rules and the policies to be served by the enforcement of them have been recognized by the Utah Supreme Court. In State v. Wiswell, 639 P.2d 146 (1981), this Court reversed the defendant's conviction on the basis that the prosecution attempted, more than once, to put the defendant's post-arrest silence before the jury.

The Court noted that the State not only elicited prejudicial testimony through its witnesses, but also argued the testimony in closing argument. The effect of the witnesses' testimony was diffused to some extent by the Court striking the testimony and admonishing the jury, but the effect of the comments in closing argument were not easily diffused and were highly prejudicial. The Court concluded that the "references to defendant's silence [were] fundamental error, which could have affected the result and [were] therefore prejudicial." Id. at 147.

In the instant case, the prosecutor did what Wiswell prohibits. He argued the Appellant's post-arrest silence in closing argument. He said that when Appellant was arrested he gave no explanation as to what he was doing in Texas. The prosecutor continued on to make another prohibited argument, one not present in Wiswell's facts, that the defendant presented

no evidence at trial to suggest he had legal justification for leaving.

Both of these arguments are constitutionally impermissible. The State was not precluded from arguing the Appellant's prearrest silence as it related to his non-appearance at trial "without just cause", (See Jenkins v. Anderson, 447 U.S. 231, 65 L.Ed. 86(1980)), but the State clearly overstepped its bounds in arguing post-arrest silence and silence at trial.

The prosecutor's conduct in the instant case constituted prejudicial error. The prosecutor asked the jury to infer that the Appellant was guilty because he failed to exculpate himself after he was arrested, and because he failed to offer evidence in his behalf at trial. As a result of the prosecutor's improper Argument, Appellant was deprived of a fair trial.

POINT II

THE PROSECUTOR USED THESE IMPERMISSIBLE COMMENTS AND ARGUMENTS TO SUSTAIN A SUBSTANTIAL PART OF HIS BURDEN OF PROOF ON ONE OF THE ELEMENTS OF THE CRIME OF BAIL JUMPING.

In order for Appellant to be convicted of the crime of Bail Jumping, the State had to establish each of several elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. These elements are:

1. That the defendant failed to appear at a time and place designated for his appearance;
2. That the defendant had been released on bail on the condition that he subsequently appear upon a charge;
3. That the charge or charges were felonies;
4. That the defendant did so knowingly;
5. That he did so without just cause.

The crime cannot be proved without satisfactory proof, that is, proof beyond a reasonable doubt, of all the foregoing elements. The primary evidence offered and argued by the State of Element No. 5 was that Appellant failed to give an explanation as to what he was doing in Texas, and second, that he offered no evidence suggesting he had any legal justification for leaving.

Since both of those arguments are constitutionally impermissible as comments upon the defendant's right to remain silent, they surely cannot be offered as proof on one of the elements of the crime. This court should not allow the Prosecutor to sustain his burden of proving crucial elements by making improper and prejudicial arguments. The accused is entitled to rely on well-settled and thoroughly tested constitutional guarantees. If his or her silence is to become a tool in the prosecutor's hands to make out his or her case, then the Fifth Amendment contains an empty principle indeed.