1984

## The State of Utah v. Harvey W. Dorton : Brief of Respondent

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

Appellant was charged with Bail Jumping, a third degree felony, in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 76-8-312 (1953), as amended, for failure to appear at trial while released on bail.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

Appellant was found guilty as charged on April 27, 1983, in the Third Judicial District Court, the Honorable Ernest F. Baldwin, Jr., Judge, presiding. Appellant was sentenced on May 23, 1983, to serve an indeterminate term of zero to five years in the Utah State Prison.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Respondent seeks the affirmation of the judgment and sentence entered below.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On January 1981, Appellant was charged with several First Degree Felonies: Attempted Criminal Homicide, Aggravated Burglary, Aggravated Kidnapping, Aggravated Robbery and Aggravated Sexual Assault. Appellant's trial was scheduled for February 18, 1982 (R. 87). Some time before the trial began, appellant was released on bail through Dewey's Bail Bonds (R. 99).

Appellant's trial began on February 18, as scheduled. At the end of the day, the court ordered a recess until the following morning. The court admonished all parties to return at 10:00 a.m. on February 19 (R. 87-88). Appellant failed to appear. After waiting for a period of time, the trial resumed at 1:30 p.m. on the 19th of February and concluded that same day (R. 88-89).

Nearly five months later on July 5, 1983, James R. Phelps, an employee of Dewey's Bail Bonds, located appellant at his sister's house in Houston Texas (R. 99). At that time appellant fled from Phelps. Id. Twelve hours later, still on July 5, Phelps apprehended appellant and advised him that he was under arrest for the charge of bail jumping. He also informed appellant that he had the power to place appellant under arrest under federal statutes as a bounty hunter (R. 102). Phelps accompanied appellant to the Houston Police Station where he \_\_\_\_\_ appellant (R. 101). Phelps had no conversation with appellant concerning his presence in Texas (R. 102).

Appellant was tried in Utah for Bails Jumping. During closing arguments, the County Attorney made the following comment:

When [appellant] was arrested he gave no explanation as to what he was doing there, at least that is what Mr. Phelps told us, and there is no evidence here today that suggests that he had any legal justification for leaving (R. 123).

Appellant's counsel objected, claiming that the above was a comments on appellant's post arrest silence and on his failure to take the stand in his own behalf (R. 123, 128). The trial court admonished the jury to remember the instruction that had been given on appellant's not taking the stand. The court further stated that it's instruction was the law as it would be followed and that there would be no further argument or comment by counsel on it (R. 123). Later, counsel made a motion for mistrial based on the prosecutor's comment (R. 127). The motion was taken under advisement and later denied (R. 129).

#### ARGUMENT

##### POINT I

THE PROSECUTOR'S COMMENT CONCERNING APPELLANT'S SILENCE WHILE IN A BOUNTY HUNTER'S CUSTODY DID NOT VIOLATE APPELLANT'S FIFTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS.

Appellant correctly states the rule of Doyle v. Ohio, 426 U.S. 610 (1975), that a suspect's post arrest

silence after he has been given his Miranda rights cannot be used against the suspect in his subsequent trial. 426 U.S. at 619. This rule, however, does not apply in the present case.

The prosecutor's comment was directed specifically to appellant's silence while he was in a bail bondsman's custody (R. 123). There is no evidence on the record indicating that the bail bondsman, Mr. Phelps, gave appellant his Miranda rights, a crucial factor in Doyle. Nor is there any reason why Phelps should have done so.

Bail bondsman when making an arrest do not act as officers of the state or the courts. The bondsman, in exchange for a fee and pursuant to contract, secures the principle's release from confinement. Maynard v. Kear, 474 F.Supp. 794, 801 (N.D. Ohio, E.D. 1979). The bondsman assumes the duty of seeing that the principle appears before the court at appointed times and will incur a financial penalty for failure in that duty. Id. The bondsman may arrest the principle at any time and turn him over to the local authorities in order to avoid incurring a penalty. At common law, the power to make this arrest is "not a matter of criminal procedure, but arises from the private undertaking implied in the furnishing of the bond." Ouzts v. Maryland National Insurance Co., 505 F.2d 547, 551 (9th Cir. 1974), quoting Fitzpatrick v. Williams, 46 F.2d 40, 40-41 (5th Cir. 1931). The arrest power of the state and that of the bondsman are two distinct rights. One is based on the general police

power of the state while the other arises out of a contract between the parties. Id. Of course, the state may enter and regulate the field of bail bonds, but in so doing the state does not make the bondsman its agent. The bondsman's right to arrest does not spring initially of statute; it was created and exists primarily as a contract right. Id.

Since the bondsman is not acting as a state authority or keeper of the peace, the custody he exerts over his principle is not that required in Doyle v. Ohio, supra. The bondsman making an arrest acts in a manner analogous to a private security guard apprehending a shoplifter. At least one state court has held that prosecutorial comment on testimony of private security guards concerning a defendant's silence while in their custody is not subject to the Doyle prohibition. State v. Pickett, 37 Or. App. 239, 586 P.2d 824 (1978). A similar finding should be made regarding appellant's silence while in Mr. Phelps' custody.

Assuming arguendo, that Doyle v. Ohio, supra, applied in the present case, a trial court's judgment will not be overturned for a comment on the defendant's post arrest silence unless the comment was prejudicial to the defendant's right to a fair trial. State v. Wiswell, Utah, 639 P.2d 146, 147 (1981). The standard for prejudice is whether there was a reasonable likelihood of a more favorable outcome for the defendant in absence of the prosecution's comment. State v. Fisher, Utah, \_\_\_ P.2d \_\_\_, No. 18452 slip op. at 2 (March 8,

1984). The following factors usually apply: (1) to what use did the prosecution put defendant's post arrest silence; (2) Who initially elected to pursue the line of questioning or argument; (3) What quantum of other evidence indicated defendant's guilt; (4) What was the intensity and frequency of the references to defendant's post arrest silence; (5) Did the trial judge have an opportunity to grant a motion for mistrial or to give curative instructions. Williams v. Zahradneck, 632 F.2d 353, 360-62 (4th Cir. 1980). Utah has recognized many of these factors. In State v. Wiswell, *supra*, a case heavily relied upon by appellant, the court granted reversal only after noting that the prosecutor had made continued attempts to bring defendant's post arrest silence to the jury's attention. Id. at 147. Furthermore, the court had neither stricken the comments by the prosecutor in his final argument nor admonished the jury not to consider those comments. Id. Finally, the court in Wiswell also noted that defendant had been advised of his right to remain silent. Id.

The facts of the present case stand in sharp contrast to those of Wiswell. First, the prosecutor made only one comment on appellant's post arrest silence in his closing argument. No comments or evidence had been made or presented during the course of trial. The single comment was objected to by appellant's counsel. The trial court immediately warned the jury not to consider appellant's silence and reminded them of the instruction given to that effect. The trial court also

admonished counsel not to comment further on the matter. The problems that resulted in reversal in Wiswell are thus not of concern in the present case and a reversal should not be granted on the grounds given in Wiswell.

Moreover, contrary to the assertions made in point II of appellant's brief, there was ample evidence outside of the prosecutor's comment which would support the jury's finding of appellant's guilt. Appellant appeared at the first day of his trial, yet failed to make an appearance on the second day. It can be inferred that he failed to notify either the court or the bonding company. Five months later appellant was finally located in Texas by the bonding company's representative. Throughout that time appellant had not contacted the company to supply a legal justification for leaving Utah. Indeed, appellant fled from the representative when the two first met at appellant's sister's home in Texas. The only reasonable conclusion from the above facts is that appellant fled from Utah because he wished to avoid the charges filed against him and not because he had any legal justification to leave the court's jurisdiction. Indeed, the defense presented no evidence at all in its case in chief. The prosecutor's comment adds little to the above evidence or the conclusion that it supports. The comment certainly does not sustain a substantial part of the state's burden of proof as appellant claims.

In the present case, the prosecutor's comment was not naturally and necessarily directed at appellant's failure to testify. The comment was more obviously directed at the failure of the defense to present any evidence on the question of guilt or innocence. The lack of evidence shows that the question of appellant's guilt is not a close one and the prosecutor committed no error, harmless or otherwise, by informing the jury of this in his closing argument.

#### CONCLUSION

The rule in Doyle v. Ohio, supra, does not apply to prosecutorial comments on a defendant's silence while in the custody of a bail bondsman. Even if Doyle does apply, no error or, at most, harmless error was committed, because there was sufficient evidence of appellant's guilt without any consideration of the comment. Finally, the prosecutor did not comment on appellant's failure to testify. Rather, he commented on the general nature and quality of the evidence adduced at trial. Appellant's conviction and sentence should be affirmed.